

[image: cover]





[image: cover]








 


About the Authors


 


Nick Russell-Pavier is a writer, dramatist, TV and film composer, and producer.


Stewart Richards has worked as a film producer, television executive and audiobook publisher. He is married, has four children and lives in Oxford.











Praise for The Great Train Robbery


 


‘Our fascination with the Great Train Robbery shows no sign of fading. It’s Britain’s real-life Wizard of Oz – no matter how familiar the tale, we can never resist savouring it just one more time . . . This well-written book also tackles the question of why the crime still holds our attention’ Spectator


‘This racing read reveals a strangely seductive lost world’ Independent on Sunday


‘For the robbers who lost their liberty, all they had left was the myth of a brilliant crime. But that myth is comprehensively blown away by this thorough and often gripping book’ Sunday Times


‘With hindsight, the irony is that the Great Train Robbery was not a harbinger of the Swinging Sixties, but rather, with its cast of cops and criminals in matching trilbies, a reminder of the old Britain – class-bound and violent yet still strangely innocent – that was about to be swept away’ Mail on Sunday


‘A cool analysis of a violent and daring raid that still frustrates investigators and fascinates aficionados of big-time crime’ Saga Magazine


‘The idea that the great train robbery was a masterpiece of planning and execution by the cream of Britain’s villains has been strangely persistent. In fact, as Nick Russell-Pavier and Stewart Richards’ fascinating, if mildly obsessive, new book proves, this was always a myth that handily suited everybody involved: police, media and the criminals themselves’ Daily Mail


‘Compelling . . . reveals failings in the initial investigation, but also in the execution of the robbery’ Choice







PREFACE


There have been many accounts, films, biographies, newspaper articles, television programmes and public records written over the last fifty years about ‘The Great Train Robbery’. They have all, in their own way, contributed to the folklore that has evolved around the subject of the mail train ambush that took place in Buckinghamshire in the early hours of 8 August 1963.


The train was traversing a country that had more grocery shops than supermarkets and the nation’s diet was limited and bland: pork luncheon meat, corned beef, eggs, overcooked meat and two veg. Few Britons would have ever tasted garlic or been on a foreign holiday. Men wore hats or flat caps, women headscarves sometimes with hair rollers underneath. The majority of adults smoked cigarettes. Houses had no central heating and in cold weather the air smelled of coal fires. Only 36 per cent of households owned a car, less than half had a washing machine. In the fading days of a vast empire, and attempts at socialist engineering following World War Two, much of the nation’s land and wealth was still owned by successive generations of aristocrats and landed gentry. The British were a disparate island society divided by region, class and education. They remained culturally, intellectually and aesthetically distanced from their European neighbours by more than twenty-one miles of salt water. In a 1946 essay, George Orwell observed,


During the war of 1914–18 the English working class were in contact with foreigners to an extent that is rarely possible. The result is that they brought back a hatred of all Europeans, except the Germans, whose courage they admired. In four years on French soil they did not even acquire a liking for wine.


By 1963, forty-five years and another war later, social values had shifted but the British outlook remained largely unchanged.


It is virtually impossible to read anything about England in the 1960s without it first being prefaced by the clichés of ‘Beatlemania’ and the ‘Swinging Sixties’, but for most of the nation, most of the time, that was only an incidental part of daily life. Britain in 1963 was a country riven by crime, in the grip of powerful trade unions and governed by an old-school establishment struggling to balance the crises of the Cold War with growing pressure for social reform.


In talking to the few surviving individuals who were part of the extraordinary ‘Great Train Robbery’ story as principal players or bystanders, what emerges is that no two stories agree. Each account invariably takes a particular viewpoint, whether it is that of the robbers, the police officers or other connected parties, and over time memory has a way of constructing unreliable narratives.


In the rich and complex mythology that has grown up since the 1963 mail-train raid, numerous versions and interpretations conspire against each other and it is now impossible to arrive at an account of the truth in an absolute sense. As a result, a book that claims to be definitive cannot reasonably be a statement of fact for a single viewpoint, a collective viewpoint or even try to arrive at a definitive conclusion. It can be definitive only by virtue of capturing and setting out the fascinating multiplicity of people, events, recorded statements, and contradictory viewpoints, past and present, that have created the myths and legends of ‘The Great Train Robbery’. So there is room for the most likely to the absolutely barking mad.


Against the historical backdrop and enormous amount of money stolen, around £45 million in today’s money, the heart of the story is surprisingly small, ordinary and human. In the true account that follows the legend is deconstructed and in the systematic dismantling I hope a clearer, more complete and intimate picture emerges of the events and people whose lives collided in the 8 August 1963 Royal Mail train robbery.
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‘THE AIRPORT’ COMET HOUSE, WEST LONDON


Tuesday, 27 November 1962


Shortly before 10 a.m., in the top-floor Gents’ toilet of Comet House, headquarters of the British state airline BOAC, at London Airport, four men in suits are looking out of the window. They are watching three guards escort a steel box measuring three feet by two to a security van four hundred yards away outside the Hatton Cross branch of Barclays Bank. Inside the strongbox are the cash wages for BOAC’s airport staff: sixty-two thousand pounds, the equivalent of nearly one million in today’s money.


In the ground-floor foyer of Comet House, three other men are waiting. One stands reading the Financial Times; he is wearing a tweed sports jacket, checked cap and has dyed black hair and a false moustache. The other two are dressed in dark charcoal-grey jackets, pinstriped trousers, and bowler hats. They are talking quietly to each other, holding furled umbrellas in which the stems have been removed and replaced by iron bars. In the car park outside, two young men in chauffeur’s uniforms are chatting, standing by their gleaming 3.8 Mark 2 Jaguars.


In front of Barclays Bank, the steel wages box is loaded into the van and the doors are slammed shut. The guards get into a car in front and start the engine. The men in the Gents’ at Comet House watch the security convoy begin the short drive towards them, followed by a wireless car.


A few minutes later, the van draws up outside the main entrance to BOAC headquarters. The heavy box is hauled out of the back of the van and placed on to a trolley. Following the regular Tuesday routine, the guards will escort their cargo in through the foyer and up to the cashier’s office on the first floor.


On the top floor of Comet House, the men leave the Gents’ toilet and walk down the corridor to the lift. One of them has gone ahead and has been keeping the lift ready by throwing the stop switch. All four men get inside and the button is pressed for the ground floor. As the doors slide shut, they pull out stocking masks from their pockets. From inside his jacket one man pulls out his lucky mascot: a foot long, inch-and-a-quarter-diameter length of pipe filled with lead and bound with cloth.


The radio car drives away as the security guards enter the Comet House foyer. They push the trolley across the polished linoleum floor towards the lift, passing the man in a sports jacket and checked cap, past the two gentlemen in city suits with umbrellas. As the guards press the call button for the lift they can already hear it descending. The man in the checked cap folds his newspaper and places it on a table. Along with the city gents, he walks nonchalantly in the direction of the lift.


When the doors glide open the four masked men explode from inside, screaming at the guards and lashing out. One guard is hit a glancing blow behind the ear and falls semi-conscious to the ground. Another starts to make a run for it but is caught by one of the city gents with a quick tap of his umbrella and crumples to the floor. The last guard collapses without being touched. The attackers spin the trolley round and wheel it back out through the entrance of the building to where the two chauffeur-driven Jags have just squealed to a halt outside. The five men throw the wages box into the boot of one of the Jags, jump into the getaway cars and take off at racing speed. The cars scream around the back of airport buildings, weaving between startled workmen and parked vehicles and turn out on to the airport’s inner perimeter road. After a few hundred yards, they skid to a halt in front of a pair of locked, disused gates in the outer fence leading directly to the main A30 road. With dust and debris still swirling in the air, two men leap out of the leading car, cut a chain from the padlock on the gates with bolt cutters and swing the gates open. The Jags surge through the gap, stopping on the other side with engines revving.


A passer-by, driving west along the A30, spots the unusual activity up ahead. He pulls over and reverses his Austin in front of the two Jaguars, attempting to block the criminals’ escape. However, the man’s quick thinking heroics are in vain. The robbers with the bolt cutters are already in the back of the first Jag. Spinning their steering wheels to dodge the stationary Austin, both drivers floor their 3.8-litre engines, kicking up gravel, the squealing tyres leaving skid marks on the tarmac. One car clips the wing of the Austin as they swerve round it and the Jags roar away, accelerating hard down the Great West Road towards Central London. From start to finish the whole BOAC robbery has taken under three minutes.


Getaway driver Roy James, his lightning reactions honed on the motor-racing circuit, pulls across a major junction as the traffic lights turn to red, holding up crossing traffic, and the second Jag scorches through with three men in the back. They are quiet and collected. Everything has gone according to plan.


This is no ordinary wages snatch. This is a new type of crime, meticulously timed, stylish, executed with ruthless precision. The young criminals easing back into the red leather of the Jag’s interior with smiles on their faces are wily and rakish Irishman Gordon Goody; Charlie Wilson, a good-looking South Londoner with a ready wit and Bruce Reynolds, who with his heavy-framed glasses looks the epitome of white-collar respectability and quite unlike the violent and seasoned criminal that he is. The portly man with a friendly smile riding up front is Ronald Edwards, known to his mates as ‘Buster’. This job is something different and New Scotland Yard is about to receive a wake-up call.


Goody, Wilson, Edwards, James and Reynolds are the nucleus of a loose association of south-west London criminals who will go on to form a gang of sixteen for a mail-train robbery in Buckinghamshire the following year that will come to be known as ‘the crime of the century’.
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‘THE TRAIN’ BRIDEGO BRIDGE, BUCKINGHAMSHIRE


Thursday, 8 August 1963


At midnight, a diesel locomotive hauling twelve carriages rumbled through the quiet English countryside just outside Warrington, Cheshire. The Travelling Post Office was en route to London, a journey made by countless other TPOs every night for 125 years without incident. On board the maroon coaches, with their royal coat of arms and high slit windows, postal workers were sorting through the overnight mail. In the second carriage, where registered mail was kept, were forty-six white mailbags containing packets of banknotes. Due to the summer Bank Holiday, a large consignment of money was being sent south to various banks’ head branches in the City of London. Most of the cash was surplus to the requirements of local banks but some of the payload was made up of old five-pound notes that were being withdrawn from circulation.


The TPO was scheduled to make seven stops before finally pulling into Euston. Along the way a total of 128 mailbags would be collected containing 636 packets of five-pound, one-pound and ten-shilling notes amounting to two million, five hundred and ninety-five thousand, nine hundred and ninety-seven pounds and ten shillings.


The ‘Up Special’ had left Glasgow Central station with five carriages the previous evening at 18.50. It had stopped at Carstairs, twenty-eight miles south of Glasgow, at 19.32 where four coaches were added from Aberdeen before departing at 19.45. At 20.54, it had arrived in Carlisle. There was a change of guard and sixty-one-year-old Thomas James Miller, of 83 Brent Terrace, London, N22, joined the train along with three further coaches making the full complement of twelve carriages. Miller had worked on the railways for forty-one years.


Before midnight, the train stopped twice more: 22.53 at Preston, departing 23.03 and 23.36 at Warrington, departing 23.43. With two more scheduled stops, the TPO was due to arrive at Euston station in London, after a nine-hour journey of 401 miles, at 03.59.


At Crewe station, the platforms were empty except for two men standing about in the balmy night air, chatting casually as they waited: train driver Jack Mills and his second man (sometimes referred to as the ‘fireman’ – a hangover from steam engines) David Whitby. At the age of twenty-six, Whitby had already been working on the railways for eleven years. He lived half a mile from the station at 154a Mill Street, Crewe. In fifteen minutes, Mills and Whitby were due to take over English Electric Class 40 locomotive, ‘D326’ and drive the mail train to its final destination. Fifty-seven-year-old Jack Mills lived about twenty-five minutes’ walk from Crewe station at 35 Newdigate Street with his wife, Florence. They had a married son called John and their first grandchild, Stephen, was due to be christened that weekend. Jack Mills had lived in Crewe all his life and been driving trains for almost twenty-two years, so he was used to the routine of the night shift and he enjoyed the prestige that went with driving the TPO.


In a dilapidated farmhouse in Buckinghamshire, 138 miles south of Crewe, thirty-one-year-old Bruce Richard Reynolds was putting on the uniform of an army major. His SAS cap badge displayed the well-known motto of ‘The Regiment’ – Who Dares Wins. With fifteen other men he was about to engage in the biggest job of his criminal career. Known as a sharp dresser, Reynolds wore handmade suits, bought his shirts in Jermyn Street, drove an Aston Martin and was a regular at the Star Tavern in Belgravia. With his black, heavy-framed glasses, he looked the very image of Michael Caine’s character Harry Palmer in the 1965 film The Ipcress File. Little did the boy from Battersea suspect that his image would influence future filmmakers. Reynolds had always wanted to be someone but for now, he was just a South London criminal no one had ever heard of about to take a chance with some mates.


In the sitting room below, thirty-three-year-old Gordon Goody was relaxed and chatting with the other members of the gang. Without Goody, none of them would have been there. Articulate, witty, well-respected and charismatic, his associates also knew that Goody could be ruthless and violent. With ‘Hello Ireland’ and ‘Dear Mother’ tattooed on his biceps, Gordon Goody’s rough edges were plain to see. He had nine previous criminal convictions including robbery with violence and unauthorised possession of a firearm.


Outside in the farmyard, thirty-one-year-old Battersea-born Charlie Wilson, an easy-going joker with sharp blue eyes and a tangle of dark hair, was smoking a cigarette. Wilson and Reynolds had known each other since they were kids. Like most of the gang they had worked on a number of jobs together over the years; they trusted each other and the bond between them was strong. Wilson was talking to the youngest member of the gang: twenty-seven-year-old, five feet four inches tall, amateur racing driver Roy James who was feeding some stray cats.


A little way off across the moonlit yard, forty-three-year-old Jimmy White was checking over three vehicles. There was an ex-War Department, three-ton Austin Loadstar drop-side lorry that White had purchased for £300 on 23 July from motor dealer Stanley Phillip Dawkins of Mullard & Co. in Edgware, London. White gave his name and address as F. Blake, 272 Kenton Lane, Middlesex. The lorry now bore a set of new registration plates – BPA260. That number was taken from a 1933 black Ford saloon that had been broken up for scrap by motor mechanic John Henry Charles Price two years earlier in May 1961. The remains of the car were in a yard behind the Black Dog Inn in Gloucester.


Displayed on the windscreen of the lorry was a road-fund licence relating to another lorry, VJD35, belonging to James Edward Godfrey, a self-employed lorry driver of 5 Doric House, Cranbrook Estate, Old Ford Road, London, E2. The tax disc had been stolen from his vehicle when it was parked near his home between 19.30 on 29 July and 14.00 the following day when he reported it to police at Bethnal Green.


Also parked in the yard were two canvas-roofed Land Rovers, a Series One and a Series Two. The Series One had been advertised in Exchange and Mart and purchased by White (this time using the name Bentley) for £195 from Michael John Humphreys of Cross Country Vehicles, 45 Firs Park Gardens, Winchmore Hill, London, N21. Humphreys had acquired the vehicle for £145 in a sale of ex-government surplus stock at Ruddington, Nottinghamshire, on 2 July, re-sprayed it green and reregistered it with a civilian index number, BMG757A. White had first looked at the Land Rover on 31 July, left a deposit of £155 and collected it on 3 August.


The Series Two Land Rover was purchased new by the owner, Anthony Biggins, in May 1963 and stolen between 19.30 and 23.00 on 21 July from Oxenden Street, London, SW1, by White and Reynolds. The vehicle, originally blue and white, had been repainted green by the gang to give it an army appearance. For some curious reason the two Land Rovers had both been fitted with the same BMG757A registration number.


A wiry, energetic man, with a high forehead and small eyes, Jimmy White was organised and thorough. He was in good physical shape for his age and moved with precision, looking the part in his thrown-together military uniform and neatly trimmed moustache. He had been a proud soldier in the Parachute Regiment until his discharge from the army, suffering from a duodenal ulcer, on 7 June 1944, the day after the D-Day landings in Normandy. But when White’s army pension was subsequently reduced from eighteen shillings to nine shillings a week he felt betrayed by the country for which he had risked his life. Over the years that followed, White worked hard at a number of legitimate business ventures but the rewards were meagre until he turned his capable hands to ‘ringing’ stolen cars.


As the mail train pulled into Crewe station, Jack Mills slung his bag over his shoulder. In it was a thermos flask of tea and an old gas mask tin that he used as a lunch box, containing his favourite snack – an egg and bacon sandwich. Mills was unaware that the second carriage of his train, known as the High Value Package coach, or HVP, contained more money than he could imagine. In any case, it was not his job to worry about security. None of the train, or postal staff, was trained to think, or do, anything about that. It was taken for granted that the Royal Mail was something bigger than any of them, part of the unshakable establishment. This was an age when workers assumed their employers – their betters – took care of such things.


However, British Railways and the Post Office had not anticipated the danger of sending employees out into the night with large sums of money, to travel on a train through the dark, deserted countryside, unprotected. There were no guards, or transport police on board Royal Mail trains. Aside from walking from carriage to carriage through the connecting doors, there was no means of communicating between the sections of the train, let alone with the outside world. There was no access from the locomotive to the first unmanned coach, and no access from coach one to coach two. The driver and his ‘firemen’ in their cab were completely cut off from the rest of the train behind them. Neither the banks, British Railways, the Post Office, the police, nor the men working on board, had considered they were vulnerable to attack and that from a criminal point of view, the Royal Mail train was an easy prize.


With Jack Mills and David Whitby now in the cab of their locomotive, the growling 2,000-horsepower engine of the Class 40 eased the train out of Crewe station. Meanwhile, the gang of sixteen, dressed in makeshift army uniforms, were getting ready to leave their Buckinghamshire hideout.


Leatherslade Farm was a run-down smallholding just outside Oakley, tucked out of sight up a long gravel track, away from of the road and prying eyes. It had been acquired by the gang, with the help of crooked solicitor’s clerk Brian Field, three weeks earlier. In their planning, the bandits had decided they would need a place to convene undetected, somewhere to lie in wait beforehand and to hide out after the robbery. Having a base close to the scene of their intended crime seemed logical. Twenty-eight miles from Bridego Bridge, the gang had calculated that the farm was close enough to get to before the police could respond effectively, yet far enough from the scene of the crime not to arouse suspicion.


At 00.30, Reynolds’ job was to check the gang members into the vehicles. Each man was given a number; Reynolds needed them to remember where they sat so they could easily be checked off later, for the return journey to make sure no one was left behind. Of the gang of sixteen, who carried out the robbery, four have never been identified. One was the back-up train driver who has often been referred to as Peter, or Stan. The others remain unnamed but came to be known as Mr One, Mr Two and Mr Three.


The vehicles started up, made their way slowly down the farm track and turned right out of the gate on to the B4011 Thame Road. Leading the convoy was the Series Two Land Rover driven by Mr Two. His passengers were Reynolds, Ronnie Biggs – a small-time crook and old friend of Reynolds; the train driver; John Daly – a sixteen-stone Irishman known as ‘Paddy’ and Reynolds’ brother-in-law; and Roger Cordrey – florist, a compulsive gambler and leader of the South Coast Raiders gang, recruited for his expertise in doctoring railway signals. Behind them came the three-ton Austin lorry driven by Mr One, accompanied by Mr Three; Charlie Wilson; Buster Edwards – a former boxer, nightclub owner and long-time associate of Reynolds; Tommy Wisbey – a bookie, with a fine singing voice and well connected in the London underworld; Bob Welch – a former nightclub boss and gambler; and ‘Big’ Jim Hussey – a painter and decorator, who had served time for GBH. Last in the convoy, driving the Series One Land Rover was Roy James. James had beaten Jackie Stewart in the European Formula Junior Race at Phoenix Park in Ireland the week before. He also had a reputation as the best getaway driver around. His passengers were exsoldier and café proprietor Jimmy White, and ladies hairdresser and bank robber Gordon Goody.


A few minutes into their journey, the convoy turned right off the B4011 up the Brill Road and passed a line of cottages. By chance, one of the occupants, Mrs Nappin, was up late and alerted by the sound of vehicles at the late hour, she looked out of the bedroom window as the convoy passed by. The gang was unaware that they had been noticed. Mrs Nappin thought nothing of it. But the image of the two Land Rovers and a lorry, loaded with men in army uniforms, stuck in her mind, as did the time she had seen them.


The small convoy drove through the sleeping village of Brill and headed east along quiet country lanes, avoiding major roads, skirting north of Aylesbury towards Leighton Buzzard. The order was to drive slowly. There was no need to rush. If spotted, they hoped to pass for an army unit from one of the camps in the area out on night exercise.


According to Reynolds, he had false papers in his pocket to produce in case they were stopped. To have obtained convincing official-looking documentation would have required both inside knowledge and the help of a printer. While the claim is theoretically possible, it seems more likely this is an example of the many later embellishments to ‘The Great Train Robbery’ mythology. Many such details have been added after the event feeding the misconception that the planning and execution of the 1963 mail-train robbery was something akin to the plot of an Alistair MacLean novel.


Given that military vehicles have special registration numbers and the gang’s two Land Rovers had identical civilian numbers, the army charade was, at best, superficial. The equipment the men had with them was far from military; it consisted of: four walkie-talkies, an axe, coshes, pickaxe handles, a pair of handcuffs, some wire, eight six-volt batteries and a pair of black leather gloves. Each man had a dark balaclava and a boiler suit to put on over his army uniform.


By 01.00 the postal workers on board the mail train were well into a familiar routine in their noisy, closed-in world. It was mindless, repetitive work sorting post manually into ranks of wooden pigeonholes that ran the length of the carriages from waist height to ceiling. Over 98 per cent accuracy was expected, but the banter between the postmen and frequent cups of tea made the overnight work tolerable.


Frank Dewhurst, the man in charge of the HVP coach, had joined the train at Carlisle, along with Assistant Post Office Inspector Thomas Kett and Postman Higher Grade Leslie Penn. A stocky, taciturn forty-nine-year-old Londoner, Dewhurst was an old hand on the TPO. He had been doing the job for twelve years and was used to the routine. The only view of the outside world was through a line of slit windows, no more than eight inches in height, high up on one wall of each carriage. Not that there was much to see in the dead of night, apart from the occasional lights of towns flashing past as the TPO thundered south at between fifty and sixty miles an hour.


By contrast, the bandits’ three-vehicle convoy was trundling along narrow Buckinghamshire lanes at half that speed. The men sat quietly, thinking about what was to come and what they had to do in the next few hours. Underpinning their reflective mood was the prospect that if everything went according to plan their lives would be transformed. By dawn they would not only all have become very rich men but every man for the first time in his life would have the chance to escape the dreary working-class world in which they had they grown up. And the start of that golden future was getting closer with each mile, with every bump in the road, as the minutes ticked by.


They had been driving for about twenty minutes when a lone figure loomed out of the darkness up ahead, picked out in the dimmed headlights, walking along the side of the road. The man turned as the vehicles approached and held out his thumb. He was dressed in RAF uniform, carrying a rucksack and appeared to be trying to hitch a lift. In the lead vehicle, several questions jolted the occupants from their thoughts. Would the hitchhiker recall seeing the convoy? Would he wonder which army base they were from? Would he remember the time and direction from which they had been coming? Would he catch sight of their uniforms and question why they had not stopped to give a fellow serviceman a lift? If asked later, would he recognise any of the men if he saw them again?


Reynolds raised his hand in acknowledgement, shielding his face as they passed. It was a casual gesture and did not give away what was running through his mind. There was not much they could do about it now. Other members of the gang had noticed the man too and it made them uneasy. Their plan was good but they could not predict every eventuality, particularly not small random incidents like this. And if they could not control that, how much else could go wrong in the next few hours? Sitting in the hot, confined space of the vehicles their coarse army uniforms made them itch and sweat. Pent up with nervous energy and anticipation, the hitchhiker had worried them.


At about 01.30 the convoy turned down a single-track lane that led to railway bridge 127, known as Bridego Bridge. The three vehicles drove up to the bridge and stopped just short on the verge by a pond frequented by local anglers. A quick check confirmed that there was no one night fishing, something the gang had considered when making their reconnaissance of the area. The moment they had seen the railway bridge, with a quiet narrow lane running under it, they knew it would be the perfect place – tucked away, surrounded by farmland with no houses anywhere nearby.


The vehicles turned around and parked ready to retrace their route when it was all over; the two Land Rovers nearest the pond and the Austin lorry nearest the bridge.


As the gang got out of their vehicles the moon was bright and nearly full, a white disc in a cloudless, star-dusted sky. The time had come to start putting their carefully laid plans into action. Wisecracks from Edwards and Wilson helped the men steady their nerves as they stood stretching cramped muscles in the warm summer night. There was little need for discussion about the job in hand as they pulled on their overalls. Each man knew what he had to do and where to take up his position.


James and Cordrey immediately set off to shin up a nearby telegraph pole and cut overhead wires. A fitness fanatic, Roy James could not have been more different in temperament and physique to the chain-smoking, obsessive gambler Roger Cordrey who reputedly had an encyclopaedic knowledge of Grand National winners. Whereas Cordrey often teetered on the edge of financial disaster, James was on the brink of success. He had bought a Brabham BT6 racing car with his share from ‘The Airport’ robbery and was a personal friend of Graham Hill. As well as being known for his driving skills, Roy James had earned a reputation as a good ‘climber’ from his younger days as a cat burglar.


Gordon Goody and some of the others clambered up the embankment and carefully paced out the position where a strip of white sheet was to be slung between two posts indicating the place where the train should be stopped for unloading. The gang’s plan was to halt the TPO with a tampered red signal at Sears Crossing. But the signal was eleven-hundred yards north of the bridge where heavy mail sacks could be passed down the embankment to the road below. Having brought the train to a halt at Sears Crossing they would need to board the locomotive and uncouple the first unmanned carriage, known as the bogie brake van, and the HVP coach from the rest of the train. The locomotive and two carriages would then be driven the short distance to Bridego Bridge for the main event – the assault on the prized HVP coach.


With no part to play in the action until the TPO arrived, the gang’s train driver stood back and lit his pipe. At sixty-three he was thirty years older than most of them and been given the nickname ‘Pop’. Since arriving at the farm with Biggs two days earlier he had been the quietest member of the group clearly overwhelmed at the prospect of taking part in a major robbery.


While the gang ran through their preparations, the TPO made two further scheduled stops. The first was at Tamworth, Staffordshire where Dewhurst, Kett and Penn were joined in the HVP carriage by two sorters – twenty-one-year-old John William O’Connor and Joseph Henry Ware aged fifty-five. Thirty miles later the train stopped at Rugby in Warwickshire to take on more mail. Both stations had minimum security. London-bound mail and high-value sacks were left sitting on the platform, ready to be loaded by TPO staff. Registered packages were placed in the HVP under Dewhurst’s supervision. This was the quiet, unremarkable, reliable routine of overnight mail trains travelling up and down the country, immortalised in the 1936 poem ‘Night Mail’ by W.H. Auden. With Jack Mills at the controls, the train pulled out of Rugby at 02.16 with just under two hours to run.


At 02.20, fifty miles south of Rugby, the gang were still busy with their preparations. When James and Cordrey returned from their telephone line sabotage, James joined the rest of the team who began to make their way up the track to the signal gantry at Sears Crossing.


Reynolds, Daly and Cordrey climbed into one of the Land Rovers, started it up and headed north along the B488. In order to stop the train, Daly and Cordrey would need to rig two signals. The first, known in railway terminology as the ‘Dwarf signal’, would be set to amber and three hundred yards south of it the ‘Home’ signal on an overhead gantry at Sears Crossing, would be set to red.


A mile north of the bridge, Reynolds turned off the B488 up an unmarked track. On the far side of a moonlit field they could see the Dwarf signal by the railway line. A few yards down the track they stopped the Land Rover out of sight of the road. Cordrey took his bag from the cab and the three men made their way across the field and up the embankment.


Cordrey wasted no time in wiring up the Dwarf light – four Eveready six-volt batteries with leads, two crocodile clips and a switch that would illuminate the amber signal when the time came. He confirmed with Daly that all he had to do when Reynolds gave the word over his walkie-talkie was to cover the green light with a black leather glove and flick the switch. It was that simple.


Leaving Daly at the first signal, Cordrey and Reynolds walked back over the fields to the Land Rover. They drove south to Sears Crossing, situated about halfway between Daly’s position and Bridego Bridge. Reynolds dropped off Cordrey near the overhead gantry across the railway where Cordrey was to follow the same tampering routine at the Home signal – a glove to cover the green light and four batteries, connecting wires and a switch to illuminate the red signal when he got the word from Reynolds over his radio that the TPO was in sight. This was to be the spot where Jack Mills and his train would be brought to a halt.


Meanwhile, on their way up the track towards Sears Crossing, the rest of the gang spotted a railway workman’s hut. Perhaps because they were thieves by nature, or hoping to find something to assist them in their task, they broke into the hut to see what they could find.


Reynolds left Cordrey and took up his position as lookout at the track-side north of Daly. With binoculars, he could see Leighton Buzzard two miles away up the line and would be able to spot the train approaching. He lit a cigar, reputedly a Monte Cristo Number Two, and blew the heavy smoke into the night.


Reynolds was in his element, living out a misguided fantasy. In his imagination, his crimes were not just about ruthless, avaricious violence and easy money. They were daring escapades in which he cast himself as a romantic anti-hero in the mould of Raffles or more bizarrely, T.E. Lawrence who, as Reynolds later put it, ‘stopped trains too’. He was undoubtedly a rarity in the drab black-and-white, working-class world from which he came. Fired by the notion of adventure since a boy, Reynolds was quixotic, self-absorbed, violent and determined. He revelled in the planning of his work, and if he could include a bit of theatre, so much the better. Dressing up in army uniforms and pretending to be a band of soldiers off on a daring mission was just his style.


In the distance to the south, a steam goods train was chugging north up the line. Presently, it passed the gang concealed either side of the track: Jimmy White, Roy James, Bob Welch, Buster Edwards, Mr One and Mr Three on the east side and Gordon Goody, Charlie Wilson, Tommy Wisbey, Jim Hussey, Mr Two, with Ronnie Biggs and ‘Pop’ the train driver on the west side. A cloud of smoke and steam enveloped Cordrey as the train went under the Sears Crossing gantry and on, passing Daly at the Dwarf signal, then Reynolds, who was standing back in the shadows at the most northerly point of the ambush.


Reynolds puffed on his cigar and checked his stainless-steel Omega wristwatch. The luminous hands glowed in the darkness. It was 02.50. Everyone was where they should be.


Unknown to the gang, a GPO engineer, Robert Hutchinson, had received a call at 02.45 to look into a line faults noticed by the operator at Leighton Buzzard telephone exchange. The problems had arisen from the gang cutting the overhead telephone wires in the vicinity of Bridego Bridge. As will be seen during the course of the robbery, this was the first of a series of actions that were not fully considered by the gang and could have led to their carefully planned operation being compromised.


Eight long minutes ticked by during which three further goods trains hurtled past, heading north. At 02.58 the TPO thundered by No. 1 Signal Box at Leighton Buzzard. On duty was a lone signalman who went by the unusual and ironically apt name of Thomas Wyn-de-Bank.


Shortly before 03.00, Reynolds spotted approaching lights several miles away up the line against the background shimmer of Leighton Buzzard. He raised his binoculars, squinted into the darkness and adjusted the focus. He took his time, watching and listening, then bent down and touched the cool steel of the rail, checking for vibration. He could hear the deep, distant drone of a diesel engine now.


He looked at his watch again, pulled the walkie-talkie from his pocket and held it to his mouth. ‘This is it. This is it. This is it,’ he said.
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At this point in the unfolding story of ‘The Great Train Robbery’ several relatively minor, but connected, things occurred that threatened the success of the ambush, prompting questions about the planning and execution of ‘the crime of the century’.


Stopping the mail train with tampered signals created the possibility of collision with other trains travelling on the fast ‘up line’ into London. There was a danger that with the signals behind the TPO set to green, a following train might run into the back of the stationary one. Reynolds later dismissed the concern by saying that he followed railway procedure and placed safety detonators on the rails behind the TPO. The purpose of this under normal circumstances was to alert a driver to problems up ahead, such as a broken-down train. However, not only would specialist detonators have to have been obtained by the gang, but more crucially Reynolds would have had to place them sufficiently far back from the rear of the stationary TPO to give a following train driver enough distance to stop. Railway procedure stipulates up to a mile on a fast line. However prudent that precaution would undoubtedly have been, Reynolds did not have time for such a safeguard given the timetable of the raid.


The gang had decided to take no longer than thirty minutes to execute the robbery, as they had no way of knowing exactly how much time they would have before someone raised the alarm. It was impossible to estimate how long it would be before someone realised something was amiss with the normally impeccable schedule of the Glasgow to London mail train.


In the event, not only did the gang draw attention to the area by indiscriminately cutting overhead telephone lines, but a second unforeseen problem came into play shortly before 03.00. For reasons that remain unclear, John Daly, who had been instructed by Roger Cordrey in his method for falsifying the Dwarf signal – placing a black leather glove over the green light and switching on the battery power to illuminate the amber – did not follow the procedure that had been explained carefully to him.


Seconds after Reynolds announced over the radio that the mail train was approaching, a bell sounded in No.1 signal box at Leighton Buzzard. It was a signal failure alarm and thirty-seven-year-old signalman Wynde-Bank was immediately alerted by it.


Cordrey’s method of using a glove to cover the green lamp was devised with exactly this technicality in mind but he had clearly failed to impress upon Daly the critical importance of not deviating from the procedure. The alarm that went off in the Leighton Buzzard signal box was because Daly had not placed a glove over the green light as instructed but instead had unscrewed the bulb. The discarded bulb, along with wire and a switch, was later found on the ground near the Dwarf signal by duty technician Frank Mead from the Signals and Telecommunications Department. Mead was called out by Wyn-de-Bank shortly after 03.00 to investigate what he assumed to be a failed signal near Sears Crossing.


Whatever Daly’s reasons, whether he had dropped or misplaced the glove, or simply thought it did not mask the green light sufficiently, he could not have known that the signalman would be alerted by his improvisation. Daly’s blunder was one of a number of critical errors during the raid that illustrate the gang’s lack of technical knowledge and the consequences they set in motion.


The light-failure alert that was ringing in signal box No. 1 under Wyn-de-Bank’s watchful gaze shortly after 03.00 could have been the gang’s undoing before the raid on the mail train had even begun. If duty technician Frank Mead had arrived on the scene more promptly than he did, he would have discovered the truth about the signal problems at Sears Crossing. Had he arrived while the raid was in progress, he could have driven off and raised the alarm. The fact that he did not owed nothing to the gang’s foresight and planning. It was simply a matter of chance.


Initially, Wyn-de-Bank had no immediate concern about the safety of the TPO. Railway procedure stipulated that if a train was held up at a signal and it appeared to be out of order the second man, or ‘fireman’, would climb down from the cab and call the signalman from the trackside phone, informing him of the defect and ask for clearance to proceed. But in the gang’s efforts to ensure no one could raise the alarm they had cut the wires from the phone located on the leg of the Home signal gantry. The logic of that is undeniable. But with the signalman alerted to a problem with the signal, when he received no call from the TPO it would increase his concerns about what was happening at Sears Crossing, compounding Daly’s error.


While the possible causes of the failed signal were running through Wyn-de-Bank’s mind, Jack Mills was applying the brakes in the cab of his locomotive. Just beyond the bridge under the A4146, Mills had seen the amber light of the Dwarf signal doctored by Daly. From there the track runs straight as a ruler for the three and a half miles to Cheddington station and a couple of miles beyond. Approaching the amber light Mills could see the Home signal was set to red on the gantry at Sears Crossing beyond two smaller bridges (numbered 130 and 129) three hundred yards ahead, requiring him to stop his train. There was plenty of distance to bring the 368 tons of speeding locomotive and twelve carriages to a halt and time too for fireman Dave Whitby and his phlegmatic, more experienced driver to spot an anomaly and discuss what might have caused it.


What Mills and Whitby were looking at and wondering about as the brakes squealed and their train slowed just after 03.00 was why further down the track towards Cheddington they could see a green signal. With the signal at Sears Crossing showing red, they would have expected signals in the section ahead to be displaying a red light too. Applying the logic of railway signalling, the distant green light did not make sense. It suggested the track was clear and the red light was a fault.


From their respective seats in the cab, Mills on the left and Whitby on the right, they had a clear view of the track in front but the Class 40 windows gave a restricted field of vision. Despite the moonlit night, they could not see Cordrey concealed above them on the gantry. And as the train finally came to a halt at 03.03, Mills and Whitby could not see that just a few feet below them either side, men were lurking in the darkness, watching and waiting.


There was little need for further discussion. Whitby crossed the cab and pushed behind Mills’ seat. Sliding the left side door of the locomotive open, he climbed down metal steps on to the stone ballast.


The firemen of a train held at a red light would normally wait a statutory three minutes and then call the signalman from a telephone mounted at the foot of the signal. But David Whitby never did wait the regulation three minutes and in any case, it appeared the Sears Crossing signal was faulty.


Time at this point becomes elastic in the various versions of what happened next.


In a BBC interview, filmed three days after the robbery, Mills was sitting in a chair at home with a large white bandage around his head and a deep bruise under his right eye. His deadpan delivery and native Crewe accent gave little hint of the drama of that night as he told the reporter, ‘My mate went down to telephone, which is the usual custom. And he said these telephone wires have been cut – I didn’t realise it was a trap, even then.’


As Mills watched Whitby walk back towards the engine, he said he saw two men coming from the east side embankment and assumed they were ‘company linesmen’.


Even allowing for their assumption that the men at the trackside were railway workers neither Mills nor Whitby appeared to think it odd or alarming that the telephone wires to the signal box had been cut. Although the railway line was undergoing electrification work at the time, this did not normally involve holding up mail trains and would not have required cutting or disconnecting wires to the trackside phone, which was a vital piece of operational safety equipment.


Mills said that at this rather key moment he turned back to the controls of his engine, assuming an explanation for the delay was at hand and they would be told they could proceed.


Whitby’s account of these initial events is slightly different. He said he walked the few yards to the telephone on the gantry. It took him a moment to get there, open the phone box and, in the headlights of the locomotive, spot that the wires to the handset had been cut. Whitby said that he went back to the cab to tell Mills and then saw a man looking in between the second and third coaches. The man was wearing bib and braces and Whitby thought he was a railway worker. Passing the open door of the engine he called up to Mills, ‘I’ll go and see what’s wrong.’


Whitby walked towards the lone man standing between coaches two and three and said, ‘What’s up, mate?’


The man beckoned him over to the side of the track saying, ‘Come here.’


As David Whitby got to him, the man seized him by the arm and pushed him down the embankment into the hands of two other men. One man rolled on top of him put his hand over Whitby’s mouth, and held a cosh to his face.


‘If you shout, I’ll kill you,’ he hissed.


A terrified Whitby, understandably keen to placate his attackers, replied, ‘You’re all right, mate. I’m on your side.’


All the while, Mills remained in his driver’s seat in the cab, unaware that his fireman had been attacked and was pinned down on the embankment a few yards away.


These minor variations are seemingly inconsequential but they illustrate how the accounts of individuals deviate, create inconsistencies and ripples in the story. In many instances, the different versions pose questions about what actually took place. For example, there were two British Railways telephones mounted on the Sears Crossing signal gantry, one for northbound trains and one for trains heading south, but Mills and Whitby only mention trying one telephone and finding the wires cut.


At the rear of the train, the TPO’s guard, Tom Miller, noted the train stopped at 03.03. Two minutes later, at 03.05, Miller noticed something else that becomes a critical technical detail in understanding what happens a little later. In the guard’s van, sometimes referred to as the brake van, there was a large brass dial indicating the vacuum pressure in the train’s braking system. The brakes had a failsafe mechanism. In order for them to be released, and remain in the off position, vacuum had to be maintained in the system. The vacuum pressure was created by a pump operated from the locomotive and the system ran through the entire length of the train from front to back, with each carriage connected in a daisy chain by flexible hoses with an airtight seal. If the vacuum system leaked or a hose became disconnected all the brakes on the train would automatically lock on.


Miller stated that at 03.05 he saw the vacuum gauge in his guard’s van ‘drop from twenty to zero’ indicating that the train’s brake system had lost pressure. A few minutes later he walked through to coach nine and spoke to the train’s Post Office Inspector, forty-nine-year-old Frank Fuggle.


Reynolds, oblivious to any of the unfolding problems, had made his way back to his Land Rover, picked up Daly from the Dwarf signal and driven south along the B488, which ran parallel to the railway line, and about a hundred and fifty yards away. According to Reynolds, he pulled over on the verge and turned off the engine. Lights from the train spilled across the dark fields as the TPO stood motionless on the raised embankment under the clear night sky. Daly and Reynolds could hear the deep rumble of the engine’s massive diesel engine ticking over and intermittent sounds of clanking metal.


Reynolds would no doubt have enjoyed the perspective. The distance between him and the action may have allowed him to project a romantic interpretation on the criminal events taking place not far away across the open farmland. Although Reynolds looked the part of a commander in his fake major’s uniform and SAS cap badge, there is a paradox about the self-proclaimed leader of the gang he later claimed to be, not engaged in the field of battle, not leading his men, but voyeuristically observing them and the jeopardy of others from a safe distance.


Crouched between coaches two and three, in the grimy pressure and heat of the moment, Jimmy White and Roy James were uncoupling the engine and first two carriages from the rest of the train.


In the engine, Jack Mills stood up to stretch his legs and heard someone coming up the metal steps of the cab. He turned expecting to see Whitby. It must have taken him a few seconds to register the sinister dark figure entering the cab was not his fireman. The man dressed in a blue boiler suit and green balaclava with only his eyes visible was Buster Edwards and he was carrying a bar described by Mills as being about eighteen inches to two feet in length and wrapped in white cloth.


Mills then made the move of a brave and proud man – a move that was to cost him dearly. Unaware that he was up against a gang of determined criminals, and not a lone attacker, he grappled with the intruder, trying to force him off the footplate and almost succeeded. But as Mills was fending off Edwards at one door, a second masked bandit climbed through the opposite door on the other side of the cab and grabbed Mills from behind. The next thing Mills knew he was on his knees and the cab was filled with men in boiler suits wielding pipes and clubs.


With blood running into his eyes, Mills was put in his driver’s seat while Wilson wiped his face with a rag. He was then manhandled into the narrow passageway of the engine room behind the cab.


The serious injuries sustained by Mills during the assault on the cab was a tipping point of the robbery. What happened in those vital seconds was subsequently reported and framed in various ways both in the press and in court. Peta Fordham (wife of one of the defence barristers) in her 1965 book The Robbers’ Tale quotes Mills as saying that, although he was struck by the robbers, his main injury was sustained by hitting his head as he fell. It is possible. There are several protruding metal edges in the cab of a Class 40. However, if the initial blow had rendered Mills semi-conscious for a moment he would not have remembered falling. In the BBC television interview just days after the event Mills said, ‘I don’t remember anything after the first blow. I sank to my knees. The next thing I remember I was on my knees on the floor and I could see all these legs all around me.’


That he later allegedly made the statement quoted by Fordham that he gashed his head as he was falling creates some confusion in understanding what Mills did remember and exactly what took place. It might seem that the precise manner in which driver Mills sustained head injuries that later required fourteen stitches is academic. But much has been made over the years of this ‘aggravated’ aspect of the robbery and it has often been misreported.


It is true that Mills would have sustained no injury at all if the robbery had never taken place. However, there is a distinction to be made between deliberately inflicting a vicious injury on another human intending grievous harm and an accident resulting from a struggle with less violent intent. Mills’ surviving family understandably have strong views on the subject, but that cannot entirely negate the need to be impartially clear about what happened.


In Piers Paul Read’s 1978 book, The Train Robbers, Edwards was attributed with the assault on Mills. But that revelation was devised as a selling point by the recently released train robbers for the new version of their story. In other accounts Mr Three is blamed. He was reputedly a member of the South Coast raiders. It has been claimed that Mr Three was a childhood friend of Wisbey and also became good friends with Hussey. In an interview for a 1994 BBC Television documentary series entitled. The Underworld, broadcast shortly before his suicide, Edwards had this to say about the injuries inflicted on Mills:


I admitted to hitting him but I couldn’t have, he was above me. Anyway, the person who hit him, you know, I know who it is, everyone knows who it is, but he don’t want to admit to hitting people so, let’s leave it at that.


The expression on Edwards’ face as he makes the comment is telling. He appears resentful that the truth had never come out. The implication was that Mills’ assailant was one of the men known to have taken part in the robbery, and not one of those who has never been named.


On hearing about the attack on Mills, Terry Hogan, one of the 1962 London Airport gang and a long-time criminal associate and close friend of Bruce Reynolds, said that he assumed it was Reynolds who had struck Mills. But in all the many accounts of the robbery by gang members, Reynolds is always placed elsewhere and so there is nothing concrete to support Hogan’s comment. Nevertheless, Hogan’s understanding of Reynolds was based a long association. In many ways, Reynolds based his persona on Hogan – his love of smart clothes and of Hemingway and his wider intellectual ambitions and sensibilities. In 1957, Hogan and Reynolds had robbed a bookmaker of £500 and the resulting charges against them included grievous bodily harm. On 16 January 1958, at the Central Criminal Court, Reynolds was found guilty of malicious wounding with intent and assaulting a police officer and sent to prison for three and a half years.


Writing for Stern magazine, German journalist, Henry Kolarz, who claimed to have interviewed several people closely connected with the robbery, offered another theory, suggesting that Gordon Goody was the man who hit Mills. In his statement Mills said his attacker had ‘piercing eyes’ which was something often said about Goody. It was also true of Wilson.


Two days after Jim Hussey died aged seventy-nine, on Monday, 12 November 2012, the Sun newspaper carried an article headlined: ‘Great Train Robber admits: It was me who coshed driver.’ The report said that Hussey had confessed shortly before he died of cancer at St Christopher’s Hospice in Sydenham, South London. Although the dramatic deathbed revelation made the headlines forty-nine years later, there is no independent way of corroborating it. And, as will be explored later in the story, there may have been other motives behind Hussey’s departing declaration.


A common misconception is that the attack on Mills was an isolated act of violence. It has been portrayed as a single mistake or as a heat-of-the moment aberration by the gang. However, the Great Train Robbery raid was peppered with acts of violence and it is only remarkable that other victims were not more seriously injured.


As far as it is possible to ascertain, the assault team on the cab consisted of Buster Edwards, who made the initial attempt that Mills tried to thwart, Gordon Goody, Jim Hussey, Tommy Wisbey, Mr Three and Charlie Wilson, who wiped the blood from Mills’ head. It is of course possible that Reynolds was present too and not where he said he was. But there were at least six men crammed into the confined space of the Class 40 cab.


Shortly after Mills had been put in the hot narrow passageway next to the engine he was joined by Whitby who had been brought up by his captors from the embankment. Edwards climbed down from the cab and summoned Biggs and ‘Pop’ who had been waiting at the trackside.


Biggs later claimed that Jack Mills was only hit once and sustained his worst injury as he fell against the cabin wall. Although this corroborates Fordham’s account of Mills’ off-the-record remark, it is questionable how much Biggs could have seen from where he stood some distance away, well below the level of the cab. And as with the rest of the gang, it was in Biggs’ interests to play down the assault on Mills.


With Whitby joining Mills in the passageway and Biggs and ‘Pop’ in the cab, the total number in the locomotive had grown to at least nine, or possibly ten if Buster had got back on board. In some reports Welch was also there. Mills said he thought there were eight or nine.


With ‘Pop’ in the driver’s seat, there was a long pause while he fiddled nervously with the controls. Goody, whose edgy personality was further hyped up by the situation, yelled at him impatiently to ‘move it’. But the train did not move. In the crowded cab there was a sudden lull in the fraught activity and the seconds must have felt endless, more for the old train driver than anyone. He had been brought on to the job to drive the engine just eleven-hundred yards to Bridego Bridge so the enormous cash prize could be taken and unloaded into the waiting vehicles. But without moving the train the gang would achieve nothing.


More long seconds stretched out with nine anxious raiders breathing heavily and becoming ever more tense and hot. From the still hotter and more airless passageway next to the engine, Mills and Whitby could hear angry voices.


What none of the gang realised was that James and White had failed to properly seal the brake connecting pipe while uncoupling coach two from the rest of the train.


This critical oversight is another example of the gang’s lack of technical understanding, both in the planning of the raid and vital details of its execution. The problem with the brakes resulting from James’ and White’s mishandled uncoupling of the coaches was bad enough, but there was another unexpected factor the gang had overlooked which made things worse. Despite Pop’s long service on the railways, he had spent his entire career working on the Southern Region as a ‘shunter’ which used an air-brake system and so he had no experience of vacuum brakes or the English Electric Class 40 locomotives used for long-haul routes on other lines. The gang later claimed that ten days before the robbery on 29 July they had carried out a dress rehearsal in the train marshalling yards at Stewarts Lane depot near Nine Elms in Battersea. But their preparations had clearly been inadequate when it came to uncoupling carriages and they had recruited a driver who had no working knowledge of the type of train they intended to hold up. In an already highly charged situation, surrounded by violent criminals, the pressure on Pop was mounting as he fumbled with the unfamiliar controls. There is no way of knowing whether the elderly train driver had realised there was a problem with the brakes and was trying to rectify the situation but it was taking up precious time. And with each passing moment it was becoming increasingly obvious to everyone in the cab that the entire success of the robbery now rested in old Pop’s trembling hands.
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The touch-and-go situation aboard the locomotive on the night of the robbery was conspicuously absent from an article in The Times on 12 August 1963, which included a statement attributed to Mills: ‘The raid went like a military operation. No orders were given. Everyone had their own station and knew their particular jobs.’


Mills is also credited with saying that the gang, which he estimated to be between twenty and thirty men, did not speak among themselves. It is debatable whether Mills actually made those statements, or at least not in quite that way. In the days after the robbery, the events of that night were being turned into a good story and the seeds of myth and legend were already being sown.


Back in the confined and intense situation aboard the locomotive, Mills and Whitby could hear the tense exchanges of the gang members as Pop’s attempts to move the train were proving useless. Infuriated, Goody demanded that Pop be removed and told Welch to ‘fetch the driver’. The moment of crisis had brought the robbery to a standstill and put the chances of its success into real doubt.


Despite Mills’ nasty head injuries and very shaky condition, his engine-driving know-how had not deserted him and he quickly realised the brakes were not releasing. Mills later said that he ‘opened up the large ejector as I thought they had not put the stopper on the back’ to clear air from the vacuum pipes.


In an account later given to Stern magazine by Jimmy White he recalled:


I saw the railway engine driver sitting at the controls with a bandage around his forehead. He started to operate the controls but the engine only moved a few feet, shuddered and stopped, then did the same again as the driver worked the controls. I at once dropped back on to the track and raced off along to the rear of the Security Coach where I discovered the air pressure valve was not fully closed. I kicked it into the shut position and ran back and jumped on to the rear of the engine as it moved off. I heard one of our team shout, ‘We’re in business, boys, we’re in business.’


With Mills’ hand on the control lever, D326’s massive diesel engine roared and the locomotive began to creep slowly ahead. One of his attackers said menacingly, ‘Don’t look up or you’ll get some more.’


Ironically, Jack Mills had become both the principal victim of the robbery and the key to its success.


But as the engine drew away, taking the unmanned bogie brake van and HVP coach with it, yet another problem arose.


Inside the HVP coach, Assistant Post Office Inspector Thomas Kett heard steam escaping from the rear of his coach and thought that the coupling had broken.


In addition to the flexible hoses connecting the brake vacuum system, there was a second series of pipes that conveyed steam generated by the engine from carriage to carriage through the train’s heating system. White and James had not disconnected the steam pipe so when coaches two and three parted company the link ruptured as the train corridor pulled apart.


The postal workers in the HVP carriage were unaware of the technical details, but seeing the corridor bellows separate and hearing the steam pipe burst it was obvious that something was wrong. Someone pulled the communication cord, others shouted through the window trying to attract the attention of the driver.


In the third coach of the train – first of the ten carriages left behind – were four Post Office employees: thirty-six-year-old, Stanley Edward Hall, who had joined the TPO at Carlisle, Dennis Ronald Jeffries, aged forty-two, who had boarded at Crewe and two colleagues, Leonard Ernest Lotts, aged thirty and forty-one-year-old Joseph O’Connell.


Hall said in a statement that several minutes after the train stopped at Sears Crossing, he opened the nearside door and saw a man of about five foot six (probably James), wearing blue overalls and a railwayman’s cap standing between his coach and the HVP. After a few seconds, another man (probably White) came from underneath the joining bellows of the two coaches and said, ‘Well, that’s OK. That is all right.’ The two men then walked towards the engine. Hall assumed they were railwaymen who had effected a repair of some sort. He did not see either of the men’s faces, neither did he notice that just yards away, Dave Whitby was pinned down on the embankment below him.


Three or four minutes later, as Hall was walking across the carriage towards the connecting door to the HVP coach, there was a loud noise. The corridor pulled apart and the HVP and coach three slowly separated. Hall said his vision was impaired by a cloud of vapour from the broken steam pipe.


Dennis Jeffries looked out of the sliding door and saw the engine and first two coaches move off down the track. As the steam began to clear, Hall saw one of the Post Office employees inside the HVP van closing the connecting door, which was now open to the night. He also noticed that the signal on the overhead gantry was red.


Extraordinarily, the men in coach three remained unperturbed. Hall later reported that he did not think ‘anything was seriously wrong’ although he did admit to being ‘puzzled’. Lotts walked through the carriages to coach five where Post Office Inspector Fuggle was located and told him what had happened. Fuggle accompanied Lotts back to the third coach to see for himself, and then made his way back down the train to speak to the guard, Tom Miller. This sequence of events is different from those in Miller’s statement.


At 03.10, forty-two-year-old Len Kinchen, the signalman from Cheddington signal box, telephoned Wyn-de-Bank at Leighton Buzzard to ask where the TPO was. Wyn-de-Bank told Kinchen that the train had entered his section but he suspected there had been a signal failure at Sears Crossing. Five minutes later, Wyn-de-Bank noticed on his track indicator that the train had passed the signals at Sears Crossing. He could also see from his instruments that the approach to the signal was still engaged, which suggested that either a section of a train had become detached, or there was a track indicator failure as well as a signal fault.


Wyn-de-Bank advised the Control Office at Euston and his colleague Len Kinchen in the signal box at Cheddington of the situation, adding that he had arranged for Frank Mead to go to Sears Crossing to investigate. Aware of the possible dangers the stationary train presented, Wyn-de-Bank closed the ‘Up fast line’ to any further trains. He then hailed a parcels train heading into London on the slow line and asked the driver, whose name was Cooper, to stop at Sears Crossing and report the position of the TPO.


Back on the B488, Reynolds started the Land Rover and pulled away and he and Daly watched the slow progress of the train as they drove back to Bridego Bridge. Arriving ahead of the train they clambered up the embankment in time to guide it to a stop at the white marker they had erected earlier.


In all the numerous statements, newspaper articles, accounts, biographies and interviews given by the robbers there is no mention of any member of the gang remaining with the vehicles at the bridge. The account given to Piers Paul Read by at least seven of the gang in The Train Robbers states that, after cutting phone lines and placing the white marker on the track, ‘they all started walking up towards the gantry’.


This was more than a technical error, it was a glaring oversight in the plan. If someone had driven down that quiet lane, or if a police patrol car had come along, they might have wondered what a lorry and Land Rover were doing, parked by the pond. They could also have spotted the strip of white sheet between two posts up on the railway line above. Curiosity might have prompted them to stop, get out and look around. They would have noticed a stationary train, waiting at the signal, seen it pull away leaving some of its carriages behind. With all the unusual activity in the middle of the deserted countryside in the early hours of Thursday morning even the sleepiest passer-by or policeman would have paused and wondered what the hell was going on.


Had British Railways technician Frank Mead, or duty GPO engineer Robert Hutchinson arrived at Bridego Bridge while the gang was storming the train half a mile up the track at Sears Crossing, the robbers would not have known about it if they had not posted a lookout – an elementary part of any schoolboy prank.


‘Marvellous, just marvellous’, was how Reynolds described the sight of the engine coming towards him with what he called ‘members of the firm’ hanging off it, waving their arms and shouting instructions about where the locomotive was to stop.


As the train slowed, the firm jumped down and prepared to go into action on the HVP coach. The assault team was made up of seasoned hard man Charlie Wilson; his childhood friend the huge Jim Hussey; Gordon Goody, a powerful and vicious villain who had a look that terrified his victims into submission; Bob Welch, an intelligent man of great strength who gambled most of his money away; Buster Edwards, one of the core team who had been the crucial link to Roger Cordrey and his ‘South Coast Raiders’ and Tommy Wisbey who came as part of the Cordrey package. Although Wisbey was a minor member of the mail train gang, he had associations with all the major London criminals. The godfather of his daughter, Marilyn, was Freddie Foreman, who worked for the infamous Kray brothers, and later served ten years for helping clean up after Jack ‘The Hat’ McVitie was murdered by Reggie Kray in 1967. Marilyn Wisbey later had a long-standing affair with ‘Mad’ Frankie Fraser. In his day, Fraser was one of the most feared men in the London underworld. During the course of his long career, he spent a total of forty years in prison including ten years for his part in the Richardson torture case and five years for leading the 1970 Parkhurst Prison riots. Tommy Wisbey’s father-in-law was the cousin of another notorious London gangster, Billy Hill.


Along with Messrs One, Two and Three this formidable pack of young criminals converged on the isolated HVP coach. Only a set of bolted timber doors, a few panes of glass and a handful of frightened postal workers stood between them and a fortune in used banknotes. This was the part they had all been waiting for. All they had to do now was take the money and drive away.


Assistant Post Office Inspector Kett was in the HVP coach with Dewhurst, Ware, O’Connor and Penn. Kett’s account stated that all doors and windows in the coach were closed and fastened. That was not strictly accurate: the connecting rear door was closed but not locked as the catch was bent. Not that it would have made any difference; a few bolts and locks were no obstacle for the gang of determined, ruthless criminals.


At 03.15 Charlie Wilson smashed the window of the HVP carriage with a pickaxe handle, hurling himself through.


Hearing the glass explode Kett shouted, ‘It’s a raid.’ In an attempt to hold back the raiders, some of the postal workers piled mailbags against the sliding doors while others ran to doors and windows to make sure they were bolted.


A voice outside shouted, ‘They’re barricading the doors. Get the guns’ – although this was later refuted by the gang. Concerned that a threat of firearms escalated their crime, they claimed that someone had shouted ‘Get the cunts!’


Another window shattered and two masked men climbed in waving coshes. Other raiders kicked at the doors while men in stocking masks burst through the rear gangway screaming at the postmen to get back. One of the bandits was waving an axe.


According to Kett’s statement, ‘Within seconds between six and eight unauthorised men had entered the HVP coach, with other men shouting outside.’


One man hit Kett on the arm with a cosh as he tried protect himself and shouted, ‘Who was the bastard that bolted the doors?’ He then hit Dewhurst several times, yelling, ‘Get some more men up here!’ Penn turned away from the man with the axe and was struck across the shoulders by another raider who had climbed through the window wielding an iron bar.


The terrified HVP crew were herded to the front of the coach. Penn said, ‘I was struck a second time and I went down. Mr Dewhurst was hit just in front of me by the same person. He went down right away.’


They were guarded by a tall man who lashed out again at Kett and Dewhurst, hitting Kett again on the head. Dewhurst said he was hit five or six times. The postmen were ordered to lie down and close their eyes. Kett said there was a lot of shouting and while the mailbags were being unloaded someone yelled from outside, ‘We want some more help out here, guvnor.’


Interviewed in 1994 for the BBC Television programme The Underworld, Buster Edwards summed up the situation: ‘We were the cream. We were all tops at what we were doing. You’ve got to be prepared for violence. You go on business to expect violence, to use violence. It’s not a softy sort of thing really. If it’s got to be used, it’s got to be used.’


In the cab Mills and Whitby, who had been handcuffed together, were told to get out. The injured train driver with blood still streaming from his head wounds and his terrified fireman were manhandled along the embankment and ordered to lie face down on the grass.


Taking Mills and Whitby out of the cab where they could not see what was happening and leading them along the side of the train in full view of the robbery in progress was an odd piece of choreography. Although they were told not to look up, it only took a fraction of a second for them to take in what was going on. While stumbling down the embankment to where they were held, Whitby saw the chain of men passing mailbags down to the road below and loading them into ‘an army type lorry’. His observations compromised the gang’s carefully devised anonymity and were to prove pivotal for the police in the days that followed.


Moving 120 mailbags weighing a total of two and a half tons down a steep railway embankment in a hurry was hard work but none of the gang complained or stopped for a breather. Bag after bag came out of the HVP coach and passed down the chain of eager hands to be dumped unceremoniously in the back of the old Austin lorry.


But not all the robbers were upbeat and exuberant. In the second Land Rover, parked by the pond, the elderly train driver sat pale and exhausted with his minder, Biggs. As they watched the bags of money coming down the embankment they must have felt relieved but also pretty stupid. Pop had never had any illusions about being a major criminal. The train raid was his first and last job. With a small but vital part to play, he had failed and jeopardised the entire plan.


Apart from Reynolds, most of the gang had been reluctant to have Biggs on the job. His contribution of a back-up train driver had been a fiasco and Biggs must have been dreading what the rest of the gang would say and do when it was all over.


At 03.30, Reynolds checked his watch and called time. The gang had decided in advance that they would leave no later than thirty minutes after stopping the train. Charlie Wilson shouted down that there were only a few bags left in the HVP coach, but Reynolds was insistent and the discipline of their plan held firm. One by one the men stopped what they were doing, clambered down the embankment and made their way to their allotted seats in the vehicles.


Mills and Whitby were led to the HVP carriage. As they struggled to climb in, Mills said, ‘I can’t get in, I’m handcuffed to my mate.’ Someone caught Mills’ legs and as they were bundled into the coach a masked robber said to Whitby, ‘Now, David, don’t say anything to any of them. There are some right bastards in this lot who will kill you.’


Mills, still bleeding and handcuffed to his fireman, was pushed down on the floor alongside the HVP crew. One of the raiders warned them not to move for half an hour, adding that they would be hurt if they did.


Down on the road below everyone was back in the vehicles. Reynolds did a head count and gave the signal to go. There was little noise or haste as the lorry and two Land Rovers started up and moved off down the narrow moonlit lane.


In the HVP coach Mills, Whitby, Kett, Penn, O’Connor and Dewhurst heard the sound of the gang driving away but they were wary of the order not to move. All still frightened and shaken they had no way of knowing if the warning that the robbers were leaving two men behind to stand guard was true. In calmer circumstances, they might have worked out that it was a bluff, a way for the gang to buy time to make their escape. It would not have made sense to leave gang members behind. Even if they were armed, the risk of someone raising the alarm was increasing with every minute. Besides, no one would have volunteered to stay while the rest of the gang disappeared into the night taking the stolen fortune with them.


As the dawn of Thursday morning crept over the eastern horizon, the scene at Bridego Bridge was eerily still and quiet. Just seven sacks remained on board in the open high-value package cupboards and a solitary white mailbag lay discarded at the trackside. With their faces to the floor, Mills, Whitby, Kett, Penn, O’Connor, Ware and Dewhurst heard the grinding gears of the old army lorry and two Land Rovers turning at the bottom of the lane and fading away in the direction of Mentmore.


With sidelights dimmed, the three-vehicle convoy began to retrace their route back to Leatherslade Farm. It had been a nerve-racking, frantic thirty minutes. But the gang was intoxicated and united in the belief that as a result of their endeavours they had said goodbye for ever to the hard, drab, working-class life that their parents and grandparents had endured. Not for them the long hours and relentless years of hard graft, only to end up just as poor at the end of it.


The robbers were old enough to remember how hard times had been during the war, eighteen years earlier. While men like Jimmy White risked their lives fighting, those who had remained at home struggled – many families separated, children evacuated, food and money in short supply. Moral boundaries were blurred as people did what they could to get through it and survive. For many Britons, being ‘on the take’ became a way of life; some did it to get a bit extra, others did it just to stay alive. By the end of the war and through the years of rationing that followed, the black market continued to thrive. Beating the system was endemic, an accepted part of everyday life.


With a new decade, the country finally seemed set to change for the better. ‘The sixties’ had a ring to it. For a new generation, free from the prospect of going to war, old ideas were being discarded and fresh democratic socialist values were taking root. There was a Welfare State and National Health and in December 1961 the Health Minister, Enoch Powell, announced that the contraceptive pill would be available ‘to all’. Popular songs on the radio evoked another life. 1950s jazz bands, crooners and rock ’n’ roll were being overtaken by earthy blues and skiffle. Musicians looked different and sang with the voice of restless youth in changing times and sex, a natural part modern romance. American movies at local cinemas portrayed another way of life: flashy cars, nice clothes, emancipated girls who were not hardened and world-weary, old before their time. Somewhere out there was a less make-do-and-mend class-ridden ‘lifestyle’ where working people would not have to scrimp and save and watch every penny.


Yet not much seemed to have changed on the streets of London where honest working people would put in a forty-eight-hour week in exchange for as little as ten pounds.


These shifting factors, along with the fading influence of traditional religious and moral values, created a capital city that was plagued by crime. Breaking the law offered glamour and excitement and the chance of easy cash, even the possibility to get ahead. Many young men growing up in the poor fringes aspired to join the ranks of smartly dressed and stylish criminals. The names of London’s notorious crime firms – the Richardson brothers south of the river and the Krays in East London – commanded respect, admiration and social standing. And for those at the top, that particularly empty preoccupation of modern times, celebrity. Decades before thug-inspired bling and the parlance of gangster rap became fashionable, gangster-chic was exerting its grip on the public imagination.


This was the provenance of the gang of young men that stopped the mail train at Sears Crossing. Through criminal enterprise they had been given glimpses of prosperity. But all too soon, the money would be spent and they would find themselves facing the choice of slipping back or doing another job.


It had all changed in less than an hour in the early hours of 8 August 1963. The mail train robbers had made the transformation from ‘have not’ to ‘have’. And suddenly they found themselves confronting a problem they had never encountered before. Once you have a fortune, you have something to lose and that changes everything.


The more thoughtful among the bandits may have reflected on how lucky they had been to pull off the robbery. But once the sweat on them had dried, how far down those quiet country lanes had they gone before some of them started thinking about the questions that must follow. Were they going to get away with it? And now they had all that money, would they be able to hang on to it?
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Through the smashed windows and wide-open doors of the HVP carriage, came the low steady throb of D326’s diesel engine ticking over and the sounds of the early morning Buckinghamshire countryside stirring. Jack Mills and David Whitby lay handcuffed together, while Kett, Penn, O’Connor and Dewhurst whispered to each other, debating whether the warning the robbers had given them was true. Dare one of them make a move towards the open door?


Back at Sears Crossing, the TPO’s guard Tom Miller had made his way to the front of coach three and discovered that the engine and first two carriages were missing. Miller was heard to say something along the lines of, ‘What are the driver and fireman playing at? They should have informed me there was a problem.’ Clearly, at this stage he was still under the impression the missing engine and carriages were the result of mechanical failure.


Miller then dashed back through the train, ‘looking like a ghost’ and saying that there was ‘a flier’ (a fast train) at their backs and he needed to lay safety detonators. He was unaware that just two miles north, signalman Wyn-de-Bank had already closed the fast ‘Up’ line.


In his statement, Miller reported that the train stopped at 03.03; two minutes later the vacuum gauge in the guard’s van dropped to zero and he heard the brakes engage. He made his way towards the front of the train, reaching carriage three at 03.09 to discover that the engine, bogie brake van and HVP coach had vanished. He said he could not hear or see any sign of them.


There are several things about Miller’s statement which do not add up. To begin with, his timing is questionable. He claims to have arrived at the front of the uncoupled carriages at 03.09, six minutes after the train stopped. Bearing in mind that after the ambush and uncoupling, the gang’s driver made several abortive attempts to get the train moving before Mills was finally brought to the cab, there’s no way the engine and HVP could have been eleven hundred yards away and stationary at the bridge by 03.09.


Various witness accounts agree that the attack on the HVP coach took place at 03.15. Before it travelled eleven hundred yards to Bridego Bridge, Mills initially made a false start and then drove the engine very slowly; even at around ten miles per hour, it would have taken him three to four minutes to cover the distance. So at 03.09, six minutes before the HVP assault, the engine and two carriages would have still been at, or very close to, Sears Crossing.


Furthermore, Miller claims to have been unaware that the engine and two coaches were missing until he got to the front of the train. For that to be so, the locomotive would have to have been out of earshot while he was walking down the train. The 2,000-horsepower diesel engine of an English Electric Class 40 locomotive had a loud, distinctive growl and high-pitched whine when revving and under way. The sound would have reverberated for some considerable distance in all directions across the quiet Buckinghamshire countryside. Why was it not audible to Miller?


The only way Miller could have failed to hear the missing locomotive and coaches is if he arrived at the front of the train some time later, around 03.15 or 03.20, by which time the locomotive and HVP would have completed their eleven-hundred-yard journey to the bridge and been standing stationary with the engine ticking over.


What remains a mystery, however, is how Miller could have failed to see the HVP with its windows smashed and the doors opened wide for unloading. As he stood looking over flat ground, with no other obstacles or background lights from other sources nearby, scanning down that straight section of railway track, it’s odd that he could not detect the spill of electric light from the HVP carriage or the familiar shape of the missing engine and two coaches. In the stillness of that moonlit night, with a clear, uninterrupted line of sight, Miller says he saw nothing. And he did not hear the bangs and crashes of the gang breaking in, their shouted threats and orders, or the cries of his frightened colleagues as they were being attacked. According to the HVP staff, the attack was noisy and violent and that sound would have carried across the silent farmland.


Another witness, Francis John Ronald, reported: ‘All I could see at that time were the signals on the near gantry at red and in the distance two white lights.’ But it is unclear whether ‘at the time’ refers to 3.09 or some time later.


Perhaps Miller’s eyesight and hearing were poor. Maybe he had the time wrong and got to the front of the train later than 03.09. But if that were the case, another set of problems arises because he would have had less time to accomplish all the other things he said he did next.


Having discovered the engine and first coaches missing, Miller says he tried the trackside phone and found the wires cut. Realising the situation was potentially hazardous he followed standard railway safety regulations. He dashed back through the train, collected detonators from his guard’s van and then walked north, back up the track, placing them at statutory quarter-mile, half-mile and one-mile intervals behind the stranded coaches.
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